Commentary

Possible causes of Parkinson's disease

James D. Adams^{1,*}

¹Independent Researcher, La Crescenta, CA 91214, USA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Environmental causes
- 4. Evidence from epidemiology
- 5. Pesticides
- 6. β 2 adrenergic receptor agonists/antagonists
- 7. Alcohol
- 8. Dairy products
- 9. Smoking
- 10. Coffee
- 11. Tea
- 12. Physical activity
- 13. Gout
- 14. Vitamin E
- 15. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
- 16. Iron
- 17. Conclusions
- 18. Author contributions
- 19. Ethics approval and consent to participate
- 20. Acknowledgment
- 21. Funding
- 22. Conflict of interest
- 23. References

1. Abstract

Parkinson's disease, in most patients, is possibly caused by natural oxidative stress in dopaminergic neurons, insufficient exercise and galactose induced oxidative stress. Dopamine oxidizes to produce oxygen radicals that damage neurons. Exercise generates lactic acid and myokines that are essential for brain health. Galactose produces oxidative stress in the brain. These factors change with age and lifestyle. It is likely that lifestyle interventions, including daily exercise and much less alcohol and milk consumption, can delay or prevent Parkinson's disease.

2. Introduction

Dopaminergic neurons in the midbrain substantia nigra are lost in Parkinson's disease which causes an imbalance in the brain circuitry controlling movement [1]. Patients have difficulty walking, rigidity, tremors and other symptoms of an inability to control movement. By the time symptoms appear, 50–90% of the dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra have been lost. Dopamine has a propensity to oxidize in processes that produce oxygen radicals [2–4]. This oxidative stress damages dopaminergic neurons and causes a progressive, age related loss of these neurons.

Dopamine is produced from tyrosine in the brain since dopamine cannot cross the blood brain barrier. Tyrosine hydroxylase, an iron containing enzyme, inserts an oxygen into tyrosine making levodopa. The enzyme also produces oxygen radicals (Table 1) and is the rate limiting step in dopamine production [5]. Levodopa is metabolized by dopa decarboxylase to make dopamine which is rapidly sequestered into vesicles where it is inert by vesicular monoamine transporter type 2 [6]. The release of dopamine into the synapse is followed by reuptake into

Submitted: 29 June 2021 Revised: 15 July 2021 Accepted: 4 August 2021 Published: 30 August 2021 This is an open access article under the CC BY 4.0 license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). © 2021 The Author(s). Published by BRI.

Compound	Parkinson's disease risk	Activity
Dopamine	Decreases or Increases	Oxygen radical formation due to tyrosine hydroxylase, monoamine oxidase, alde-
		hyde dehydrogenase
Pesticides	Increases	Several mechanisms
Propranolol	Increases	Inhibits tyrosine hydroxylase activity, decreases dopamine release, induces $\alpha\text{-}$
		synuclein gene
Alcohol	Increases	Increases blood visfatin levels
Galactose	Increases	Increases brain oxidative stress
Nicotine, high dose	Increases	Damages the blood brain barrier
Nicotine, low dose	Decreases	Increases dopamine release, induces tyrosine hydroxylase
Salbutamol	Decreases	Increases dopamine release, down regulates $lpha$ -synuclein gene
Caffeine, theophylline, theobromine	Decreases	Increases dopamine receptor activity
Lactic acid	Decreases	Essential nutrient for brain cells
Cathepsin B	Decreases	Induces brain derived neurotrophic factor
Uric acid	Decreases	Decreases vascular endothelial growth factor synthesis
Vitamin E	Decreases	Protects the blood brain barrier
Ibuprofen	Decreases	Decreases dopamine turnover

the presynaptic terminal where it is either repackaged into vesicles or oxidized in mitochondria by monoamine oxidase A in dopaminergic neurons or monoamine oxidase B in astrocytes and endothelial cells with the formation of oxygen radicals [7]. This dopamine oxidation also makes 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde which is oxidized by aldehyde dehydrogenase to make oxygen radicals [8]. Dopamine can also spontaneously oxidize with the formation of 6-hydroxydopamine [2]. However, this is a minor pathway.

3. Environmental causes

The discovery that manganese miners develop a parkinsonian syndrome led to the hypothesis that Parkinson's disease is caused by an environmental factor [9]. This was backed up by the discovery that a contaminant of meperidine like drugs, MPTP causes a parkinsonian syndrome [10]. MPTP is metabolized by monoamine oxidase B to produce 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridine (MPP+) that induces oxidative stress by several mechanisms [11] including redox cycling in a two electron, hydride transfer, mechanism [12]. It is also a weak, reversible inhibitor of mitochondrial respiration. Several years of searching for environmental causes of Parkinson's disease have not found a definite cause of the disease. However, exposure to pesticides is considered a risk factor for developing the disease [13].

4. Evidence from epidemiology

Epidemiologic research on Parkinson's disease has found at least eleven factors that are important in causing or preventing the disease [13–15]. Pesticides, nonselective β adrenergic receptor antagonists and consumption of dairy products are risk factors. Factors that protect against developing the disease are smoking, coffee, tea, physical activity, gout, using vitamin E, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and β^2 adrenergic receptor agonists. These factors provide clues about the causes of Parkinson's disease.

5. Pesticides

Organochloride insecticides such as dieldrin are known to accumulate in fat deposits in the body which may lead to persistent effects. The Parkinson's disease hazard ratio for dieldrin is 1.95 (p < 0.003). However, the epidemiologic evidence did not find an increased hazard for developing Parkinson's disease with other organochlorine pesticides [15]. The data on paraquat exposure found an increased risk of developing Parkinson's disease with a hazard ratio of 1.64 and was statistically significant [16]. There is also animal experimental work that demonstrates paraquat is deleterious to dopaminergic neurons [17]. Paraquat stimulates microglial cells to release inflammatory factors such as tumor necrosis factor- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 that damage dopaminergic neurons [18].

Dieldrin has been tested in isolated dopaminergic neurons and is proposed to induce endoplasmic reticular stress leading to mitochondrial dysfunction [19]. This appears to involve transcription of the Chop/Gadd153 gene (DNA damage inducible transcript 3). Tyrosine hydroxylase activity was not altered by the pesticide. Dieldrin treatment in mice resulted in a loss of dopamine transporter activity, but no loss of dopaminergic neurons [20].

6. β 2 adrenergic receptor agonists/antagonists

Alpha-synuclein is a protein that may be involved in the regulation of dopamine and other neurotransmitter release which are important in Parkinson's disease [19]. Abnormal accumulations of α -synuclein, such as in Lewy bodies, occurs in patients expressing mild to severe symptoms of Parkinson's disease [21]. However, these abnormal accumulations are also found in patients who do not have symptoms of Parkinson's disease. Alpha-synuclein accumulates in the brain with age. There is no correlation between dopaminergic neuron loss and Lewy body load [22]. B-Adrenergic receptor antagonists, such as propranolol, induce the gene for synuclein synthesis and increase the risk of Parkinson's disease [23–25]. B-Adrenergic receptor agonists down regulate the gene and decrease the risk of Parkinson's disease [23].

The ability of noradrenergic neurons to regulate dopaminergic neurons may be involved in these drug effects. It is known that dopamine can interact with β receptors [26]. Norepinephrine can also interact with dopamine receptors [26]. These interactions may be involved in the disease process. B-Adrenergic blockers such as propranolol inhibit the release of dopamine from dopaminergic nerve terminals [27, 28]. B-Adrenergic receptor agonists increase the release of dopamine [27, 28]. Propranolol is also an inhibitor of tyrosine hydroxylase [29]. This is undoubtedly important in Parkinson's disease and may explain the ability of these drugs to increase or decrease the risk of developing Parkinson's disease.

Drugs that are purported to remove α -synuclein from the brain are being tested in clinical trials. Many of these drugs are antibodies or monoclonal antibodies. A major goal of these studies must be to demonstrate that the antibodies or monoclonal antibodies can cross the blood brain barrier. A study of a monoclonal antibody BIIB054 has produced preliminary results [30]. The drug was found to penetrate across the blood brain barrier and was safe. Clinical trials to determine its efficacy in Parkinson's disease have not been reported. Other antibodies, such as ABBV-0805, NPT200-11, PRX002, MEDI1341, AFFITOPE and PRX002 have been studied in preliminary clinical trials [31]. The results of randomized, placebo controlled clinical trials of these drugs in Parkinson's disease have not been reported [32].

7. Alcohol

Long term alcohol abuse increases the risk of developing Parkinson's disease with a hazard ratio of 3.48 [15, 33]. Alcohol induces sterol regulatory element binding protein and is an obesogen that causes visceral fat accumulation [34]. However, obesity has not been shown to be a risk factor for Parkinson's disease. Visceral fat se-

cretes a number of adipokines that are bad for health and the brain. An adipokine that is elevated in Parkinson's disease is visfatin, also known as nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase [35]. This adipokine is involved in damaging the blood brain barrier by increasing oxygen radical formation in the lumens of brain capillaries [36, 37]. The blood brain barrier is essential to brain health since it regulates the penetration of nutrients into the brain and waste products out of the brain. A leaky blood brain barrier may become inflamed which leads to brain inflammation [38].

8. Dairy products

Milk contains lactose, lactalbumin, casein, fat and other constituents. It can be contaminated with bacteria, especially unpasteurized raw milk. These bacteria can be dangerous, especially Salmonella bacteria. The bacteria found in milk include Escherichia coli, Salmonella species, Aeromonas species, Yersinia species, Listeria species and Cronobacter species [39–41]. Salmonella in milk may have been responsible for causing red skin disease and the deaths of 15 million Aztecs [42]. Streptomyces bacteria produce a toxin that damages dopaminergic neurons [43].

Lactose is metabolized in the gut by lactase to liberate glucose and galactose. Lactase is not produced in adulthood in 30–70% of adults [44], which results in lactose intolerance. Milk consumption, 3 or more glasses per day over a 20-year period, in adults leads to more bone fractures in women and more mortality in men and women [45]. A measure of oxidative stress, blood 8-iso-prostaglandin F2 α , also increases. Three glasses of milk corresponds to about 15 g of galactose.

Galactose metabolism should be studied more. It is oxidatively metabolized by galactose dehydrogenase in the presence of NAD and produces D-galactonolactone [46]. However, the existence of mammalian galactose dehydrogenase has been disputed [47]. In bacteria, galactose oxidase metabolizes galactose with the production of oxygen radicals [48]. Galactose oxidase is not found in humans. Gut bacteria contain galactose oxidase and produce gut oxidative stress following galactose ingestion [49]. Altered gut microbiota by galactose changes the digestion of foods and the absorption of plant derived nutrients that are essential for brain health. Chronic galactose ingestion in rodents leads to memory loss, brain damage and peripheral oxidative stress [50]. In fact, chronic galactose ingestion is used as a model of accelerated aging in rodents [51]. Caffeine inhibits galactose induced oxidative stress in a rodent model [52]. Humans born with galactosemia exhibit many symptoms of brain oxidative stress including neurodegeneration, motor imbalances, gait irregularities and tremor [53]. These symptoms also occur in Parkinson's disease.

Galactose is reductively metabolized by aldose reductase to form galactitol [53]. The major pathway of galactose metabolism is phosphorylation by galactokinase to form galactose-1-phosphate [53]. This forms UDP conjugates which are eventually converted to glucose.

The oxidative metabolism of galactose may be responsible for reactive oxygen species formation and oxidative stress. Little is known about the mechanism of catalysis of galactose dehydrogenase except that it performs hydride transfers [54]. Hydride is a proton and two electrons. Hydride transfer to oxygen makes hydrogen peroxide. This implies the enzyme forms hydrogen peroxide which is a powerful oxidant that crosses cell membranes, damages nuclear DNA and other macromolecules as discussed above. Hydride transfers can be important causes of oxidative stress [12]. It is not known if galactose dehydrogenase exists in the brain. It is clear that high blood levels of galactose damage the human brain [53]. The mechanism involved in this damage is open to discussion. It is known that galactosemia patients excrete galactonate in the urine [55]. Galactonate is a product of the spontaneous or enzymatic degradation of galactonolactone made by galactose dehydrogenase [56]. This implies that galactose dehydrogenase exists in humans.

It is clear that galactose metabolism changes with aging [57]. Galactose dehydrogenase has not been reported to change with aging. Elderly people have lower activities of galactokinase and galactose-1-phosphate uridyl transferase, which forms galactose UDP conjugates. This causes blood galactose levels to increase after galactose ingestion and makes elderly people much more susceptible to galactose induced oxidative stress by galactose dehydrogenase.

9. Smoking

Smoking supplies nicotine to the brain, a highly addictive substance that interacts with various receptors as discussed below. Smoking is a major health crisis in the world today. Smoking small amounts of tobacco versus large amounts of tobacco has very different effects on Parkinson's disease. The dose response relationship for tobacco and Parkinson's disease is not well described in the literature. Nicotine, at appropriate, small doses, stimulates dopamine release in the brain [58, 59]. This may be part of the reward system that drives nicotine addiction. This dopamine release is also useful in Parkinson's disease and appears to delay onset. However, heavy smoking and current smoking increase the onset of Parkinson's disease with a hazard ratio of 3.2 [14, 15]. This may be because nicotine damages arteries including the blood brain barrier due to stimulation of non-neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (NAChR) which enhances oxygen radical formation [60]. Nicotine also down regulates GTP cyclohydrolase 1 [61] which is essential for endothelial cell health. This enzyme is the rate limiting enzyme in tetrahydrobiopterin synthesis, a required cofactor for tyrosine hydroxylase. The effects of nicotine on tyrosine hydroxylase activity involve glucocorticoids. Nicotine elevates glucocorticoid levels in the midbrain. These glucocorticoids induce tyrosine hydroxylase synthesis [62]. This is beneficial in the prevention of Parkinson's disease.

10. Coffee

Coffee protects against Parkinson's disease with a hazard ratio of 0.52 [15] and contains chlorogenic acids, kahweol, cafestol and other phenolics [63]. It also contains alkaloids such as caffeine and trigonelline [63]. Other secondary metabolites are present as well. Coffee has a number of health effects against: cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, cancer, depression, Parkinson's disease and more [63]. Caffeine inhibits the adenosine A_{2A} receptor and is neuroprotective in an MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease [64]. In the brain, adenosine A_{2A} receptors form heteromers with dopamine receptors such that inhibition of the adenosine A_{2A} receptor increases the activity of dopamine receptors [65]. Caffeine also indirectly stimulates tyrosine hydroxylase activity [66]. This is important in preventing Parkinson's disease.

11. Tea

Several alkaloids are found in tea including theophylline, caffeine and theobromine [67]. A number of glycosides are present. Polysaccharides, monoterpenoids, minerals, theanine and other constituents have been reported in tea [67]. The alkaloid activities are discussed above under caffeine. The polyphenol content of tea possesses antioxidant and other activities [68]. Theanine decreases sleep latency and anxiety while increasing cognitive skills in a placebo-controlled study [69]. Theanine enhances dopamine D1/5 receptor activity [70] and may add to the protective effects of the alkaloids in Parkinson's disease.

12. Physical activity

Physical activity stimulates lactic acid production, an essential nutrient to brain neurons, endothelial and other cells [71]. Lactic acid also inhibits transient receptor potential cation channel vanilloid 1 in endothelial cells, thereby decreasing oxygen radical formation and protecting the blood brain barrier [72]. There is a muscle brain axis because nutrients and myokines released by exercising muscle cells are beneficial to the brain [73]. Myokines secreted by muscle that cross the blood brain barrier and benefit the brain are: cathepsin B, irisin and fibroblast growth factor 21 [73]. Cathepsin B induces brain derived neurotrophic factor synthesis in the brain. There is an age-related loss of muscles, sarcopenia, that makes exercising more difficult with age.

Physical activity increases oxygen flux in cells and increases hydrogen peroxide synthesis. Hydrogen peroxide quickly crosses membranes and damages nuclear DNA [74]. This damage activates poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase that uses NAD as a substrate in an attempt to decrease DNA damage [74]. The mild oxidative stress caused by exercise appears to induce protective mechanisms that benefit the brain. A history of competitive sports protects against Parkinson's disease with a hazard ratio of 0.42 [15].

13. Gout

Gout is caused by hyperuricemia and is more common in obese men. Uric acid is an inflammatory compound that damages kidneys, joints and other tissues. However, uric acid appears to protect the blood brain barrier by decreasing vascular endothelial growth factor synthesis [75]. Protection of the blood brain barrier is critical in the prevention of Parkinson's disease.

14. Vitamin E

Vitamin E is a very lipophilic antioxidant that protects lipids and other lipophilic molecules from oxidative damage. High density lipoproteins deliver vitamin E to brain endothelial cells [76]. Scavenger receptor class B type 1 may be responsible for transporting vitamin E into the brain [76]. This transport mechanism limits the uptake of vitamin E into the brain. Vitamin E protection of the blood brain barrier is important in preventing Parkinson's disease.

15. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

Ibuprofen has saturable penetration into the brain [77]. However, ibuprofen helps alleviate inflammation in the brain caused by peripheral inflammation [78]. Ketorolac does not penetrate into the brain and decreases survival of hypoxic insults to the brain [79]. It appears that the ability of ibuprofen to penetrate into the brain is critical to the prevention of Parkinson's disease. Ibuprofen protects mice against MPTP toxicity perhaps by protecting tyrosine hydroxylase activity and decreasing dopamine turnover [80]. The protective effect of ibuprofen may be to decrease oxygen radical formation by decreasing dopamine turnover. Cyclo-oxygenase 2 is present in substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons where it is involved in oxygen radical formation and synaptic plasticity [81]. The activity of the enzyme increases in Parkinson's disease [81]. This implies that ibuprofen inhibition of cyclo-oxygenase 2 in dopaminergic neurons may be protective in Parkinson's disease.

16. Iron

Deferiprone, an iron chelating agent that penetrates into the brain, has been tested in a phase 2 clinical trial in Parkinson's disease patients [82]. Brain iron concentrations, measured by T2*MRI, decreased in the caudate nucleus and dentate gyrus after 3 and 6 months of treatment. Iron concentrations in the substantia nigra decreased in 3 out of 22 patients. Disease symptoms did not improve significantly. Changes in iron levels, iron storage proteins and iron transport proteins have been found in Parkinson's disease [83, 84]. These changes may be the result of the disease rather than the cause of the disease.

17. Conclusions

Brain trauma is an uncommon cause of parkinsonism [85]. Uncommon recessively inherited genes and other uncommon genetic risk factors can cause Parkinson's disease [86]. There are ethnic differences in susceptibility to Parkinson's disease [87]. It is possible that Parkinson's disease is caused in most people by several factors that contribute to the damage of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra. This damage increases with age.

(1) Dopaminergic neurons naturally suffer from oxidative stress due to dopamine oxidation.

(2) The brain and blood brain barrier are damaged by lack of physical activity that produces lactic acid and myokines essential for brain health. Alcohol consumption also damages the blood brain barrier.

(3) Excess consumption of foods containing galactose by elderly people may induce brain oxidative stress that adds to the oxidative stress induced by dopamine oxidation.

Lifestyle interventions may help delay or prevent Parkinson's disease. This includes daily physical activity and limiting the intake of galactose. It is clear that only a small percentage of elderly people develop the disease. These lifestyle factors may explain why not everyone comes down with the disease. Some people live healthier lifestyles than others. It is also possible that some people metabolize galactose better than others.

18. Author contributions

This work was entirely done by the author James D. Adams.

19. Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable.

20. Acknowledgment

Not applicable.

21. Funding

This research received no external funding.

The author declares no conflict of interest.

23. References

- Hornykiewicz O, Kish SJ. Biochemical pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. Advances in Neurology. 1986; 45: 19–34.
- [2] Adams JD, Odunze IN. Oxygen free radicals and Parkinson's disease. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 1991; 10: 161– 169.
- [3] Adams Jr. JD. Parkinson's Disease—Apoptosis and Dopamine Oxidation. Open Journal of Apoptosis. 2012; 1: 1–8.
- [4] Adams Jr. J, Chang M, Klaidman L. Parkinsons Disease Redox Mechanisms. Current Medicinal Chemistry. 2001; 8: 809–814.
- [5] Adams JD, Klaidman LK, Ribeiro P. Tyrosine hydroxylase: mechanisms of oxygen radical formation. Redox Report. 1997; 3: 273–279.
- [6] Okamura N, Villemagne VL, Drago J, Pejoska S, Dhamija RK, Mulligan RS, *et al*. In Vivo Measurement of Vesicular Monoamine Transporter Type 2 Density in Parkinson Disease with 18F-AV-133. Journal of Nuclear Medicine. 2010; 51: 223– 228.
- [7] Adams JD, Klaidman LK, Leung AC. MPP+ and MPDP+ induced oxygen radical formation with mitochondrial enzymes. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 1993; 15: 181–186.
- [8] Adams JD, Klaidman LK. Acrolein-induced oxygen radical formation. Free Radical Biology & Medicine. 1993; 15: 187–193.
- [9] Barbeau A. Manganese and extrapyramidal disorders. Neurotoxicology. 1984; 5: 13–35.
- [10] Davis GC, Williams AC, Markey SP, Ebert MH, Caine ED, Reichert CM, *et al*. Chronic Parkinsonism secondary to intravenous injection of meperidine analogues. Psychiatry Research. 1979; 1: 249–254.
- [11] Adams JD, Odunze IN. Biochemical mechanisms of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine toxicity could oxidative stress be involved in the brain? Biochemical Pharmacology. 1991; 41: 1099–1105.
- [12] Klaidman LK, Adams JD, Leung AC, Kim SS, Cadenas E. Redox cycling of MPP+: evidence for a new mechanism involving hydride transfer with xanthine oxidase, aldehyde dehydrogenase, and lipoamide dehydrogenase. Free Radical Biology & Medicine. 1993; 15: 169–179.
- [13] Ascherio A, Schwarzschild MA. The epidemiology of Parkinson's disease: risk factors and prevention. Lancet Neurology. 2016; 15: 1257–1272.
- [14] Belvisi D, Pellicciari R, Fabbrini G, Tinazzi M, Berardelli A, Defazio G. Modifiable risk and protective factors in disease development, progression and clinical subtypes of Parkinson's disease: what do prospective studies suggest? Neurobiology of Disease. 2020; 134: 104671.
- [15] Paul KC, Chuang Y, Shih I, Keener A, Bordelon Y, Bronstein JM, *et al*. The association between lifestyle factors and Parkinson's disease progression and mortality. Movement Disorders. 2019; 34: 58–66.
- [16] Tangamornsuksan W, Lohitnavy O, Sruamsiri R, Chaiyakunapruk N, Norman Scholfield C, Reisfeld B, *et al.* Paraquat exposure and Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Archives of Environmental & Occupational Health. 2019; 74: 225–238.
- [17] Richardson JR, Quan Y, Sherer TB, Greenamyre JT, Miller GW. Paraquat neurotoxicity is distinct from that of MPTP and rotenone. Toxicological Sciences. 2005; 88: 193–201.
- [18] Sun Y, Zheng J, Xu Y, Zhang X. Paraquat-induced inflammatory response of microglia through HSP60/TLR4 signaling. Human & Experimental Toxicology. 2018; 37: 1161–1168.
- [19] Schmidt JT, Rushin A, Boyda J, Souders CL, Martyniuk CJ. Dieldrin-induced neurotoxicity involves impaired mitochondrial

bioenergetics and an endoplasmic reticulum stress response in rat dopaminergic cells. NeuroToxicology. 2017; 63: 1–12.

- [20] Hatcher JM, Richardson JR, Guillot TS, McCormack AL, Di Monte DA, Jones DP, *et al.* Dieldrin exposure induces oxidative damage in the mouse nigrostriatal dopamine system. Experimental Neurology. 2007; 204: 619–630.
- [21] Stefanis L. A-Synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine. 2012; 2: a009399.
- [22] Iacono D, Geraci-Erck M, Rabin ML, Adler CH, Serrano G, Beach TG, *et al.* Parkinson disease and incidental Lewy body disease: Just a question of time? Neurology. 2015; 85: 1670– 1679.
- [23] Koren G, Norton G, Radinsky K, Shalev V. Chronic Use of β-Blockers and the Risk of Parkinson's Disease. Clinical Drug Investigation. 2019; 39: 463–468.
- [24] Gronich N, Abernathy D, Auriel E, Lavi I, Rennert G, Saliba W. B2-Adrenergic agonists and antagonists and risk of Parkinson's disease. Journal of Movement Disorders. 2018; 33: 1465–1471.
- [25] Mittal S, Bjørnevik K, Im DS, Flierl A, Dong X, Locascio JJ, *et al.* B2-Adrenoreceptor is a regulator of the α -synuclein gene driving risk of Parkinson's disease. Science. 2017; 357: 891–898.
- [26] Lei S. Cross interaction of dopaminergic and adrenergic systems in neural modulation. International Journal of Physiology, Pathophysiology and Pharmacology. 2014; 6: 137–142.
- [27] Mizoguchi N, Saigusa T, Aono Y, Sekino R, Tadaka K, Oi Y, *et al*. The reboxetine induced increase of accumbal efflux is inhibited by l-propranolol: a microdialysis study with freely moving rats. European Journal of Pharmacology. 2008; 601: 94–98.
- [28] Bhide N, Lindenbach D, Barnum CJ, George JA, Surrena MA, Bishop C. Effects of the beta-adrenergic receptor antagonist Propranolol on dyskinesia and L-DOPA-induced striatal DA efflux in the hemi-parkinsonian rat. Journal of Neurochemistry. 2015; 134: 222–232.
- [29] Tuross N, Patrick R. Effects of propranolol on catecholamine synthesis and uptake in the central nervous system of the rat. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 1986; 237: 739–745.
- [30] Brys M, Fanning L, Hung S, Ellenbogen A, Penner N, Yang M, *et al.* Randomized phase I clinical trial of anti– α synuclein antibody BIIB054. Movement Disorders. 2019; 34: 1154–1163.
- [31] Schenk D, Koller M, Ness D. First-in-Human Assessment of PRX002, an Anti–a-Synuclein Monoclonal Antibody, in Healthy Volunteers. Movement Disorders. 2017; 32: 211–218.
- [32] Teng JS, Ooi YY, Chye SM, Ling APK, Koh RY. Immunotherapies for Parkinson's disease: Progression of Clinical Development. CNS & Neurological Disorders - Drug Targets. 2021. (in press)
- [33] Eriksson A, Löfving S, Callaghan RC, Allebeck P. Alcohol use disorders and risk of Parkinson's disease: findings from a Swedish national cohort study 1972–2008. BMC Neurology. 2013; 13: 190.
- [34] You M, Fischer M, Deeg MA, Crabb DW. Ethanol induces fatty acid synthesis pathways by activation of sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP). Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2002; 277: 29342–29347.
- [35] Santiago JA, Littlefield AM, Potashkin JA. Integrative transcriptomic meta-analysis of Parkinson's disease and depression identifies NAMPT as a potential blood biomarker for de novo Parkinson's disease. Scientific Reports. 2016; 6: 34579.
- [36] Adams JD. Alzheimer's disease, ceramide, visfatin and NAD. CNS & Neurological Disorders Drug Targets. 2008; 7: 492–498.
- [37] Adams J. DNA, Nuclear Cell Signaling and Neurodegeneration. In: Adams JD, Parker K (eds.) Extracellular and intracellular signaling (pp. 175–187). London: Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC). 2011.
- [38] Adams J. Can Peripheral Inflammation Cause Alzheimer's Disease? BioMed Research International. 2019; 1: 1–3.

- [39] Zeinhom MMA, Abdel-Latef GK. Public health risk of some milk borne pathogens. Beni-Suef University Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences. 2014; 3: 209–215.
- [40] Hayman MM, Edelson-Mammel SG, Carter PJ, Chen Y, Metz M, Sheehan JF, *et al.* Prevalence of Cronobacter spp. and Salmonella in Milk Powder Manufacturing Facilities in the United States. Journal of Food Protection. 2020; 83: 1685–1692.
- [41] Tahoun ABMB, Abou Elez RMM, Abdelfatah EN, Elsohaby I, El-Gedawy AA, Elmoslemany AM. Listeria monocytogenes in raw milk, milking equipment and dairy workers: Molecular characterization and antimicrobial resistance patterns. Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance. 2017; 10: 264–270.
- [42] Vågene ÅJ, Herbig A, Campana MG, Robles García NM, Warinner C, Sabin S, *et al.* Salmonella enterica genomes from victims of a major sixteenth-century epidemic in Mexico. Nature Ecology & Evolution. 2018; 2: 520–528.
- [43] Caldwell K, Tucci M, Armagost J, Hodges T, Chen J, Memon S, et al. Investigating Bacterial Sources of Toxicity as an Environmental Contributor to Dopaminergic Neurodegeneration. PLoS ONE. 2009; 4: e7227.
- [44] Ségurel L, Bon C. On the Evolution of Lactase Persistence in Humans. Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics. 2017; 18: 297–319.
- [45] Michaëlsson K, Wolk A, Langenskiöld S, Basu S, Warensjö Lemming E, Melhus H, *et al.* Milk intake and risk of mortality and fractures in women and men: cohort studies. British Medical Journal. 2014; 349: g6015.
- [46] Cuatrecasas P, Segal S. Mammalian Galactose Dehydrogenase. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1966; 241: 5910–5918.
- [47] Beutler E, Shaw CR, Koen AL, Cuatrecasas P, Segal S. "Galactose Dehydrogenase," "Nothing Dehydrogenase," and Alcohol Dehydrogenase: Interrelation. Science. 1967; 156: 1516–1518.
- [48] Vilím J, Knaus T, Mutti FG. Catalytic Promiscuity of Galactose Oxidase: a Mild Synthesis of Nitriles from Alcohols, Air, and Ammonia. Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 2018; 57: 14240–14244.
- [49] Han H, Liu Z, Yin J, Gao J, He L, Wang C, *et al*. D-Galactose induces chronic oxidative stress and alters gut microbiota in weaned piglets. Frontiers in Physiology. 2021; 12: 634283.
- [50] Cui X, Zuo P, Zhang P, Li X, Hu Y, Long J, *et al.* Chronic systemic D-galactose exposure induces memory loss, neurodegeneration and oxidative damage in mice: protective effects of Ralpha-lipoid acid. Journal of Neuroscience Research. 2006; 83: 1584–1590.
- [51] Azman KF, Zakaria R. D-Galactose-induced accelerated aging model: an overview. Biogerontology. 2019; 20: 763–782.
- [52] Ullah F, Ali T, Ullah N, Kim MO. Caffeine prevents d-galactoseinduced cognitive deficits, oxidative stress, neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in the adult rat brain. Neurochemistry International. 2015; 90: 114–124.
- [53] Coelho AI, Rubio-Gozalbo ME, Vicente JB, Rivera I. Sweet and sour: an update on classic galactosemia. Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease. 2017; 40: 325–342.
- [54] Brendel K, Bressler R, Alizade MA. Stereochemistry of the hydrogen transfer to NAD catalyzed by d-galactose dehydrogenase from Pseudomonas fluorescens. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1975; 397: 1–4.
- [55] Wehrli SL, Berry GT, Palmieri M, Mazur A, Elsas L, Segal S. Urinary galactonate in patients with galactosemia: quantitation by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Pediatric Research. 1997; 42: 855–861.
- [56] Hobbs ME, Williams HJ, Hillerich B, Almo SC, Raushel FM. L-Galactose metabolism in Bacteroides vulgatus from the human gut microbiota. Biochemistry. 2014; 53: 4661–4670.
- [57] Birlouez-Aragon I, Ravelontseheno L, Villate-Cathelineau B, Cathelineau G, Abitbol G. Disturbed galactose metabolism in elderly and diabetic humans is associated with cataract formation. Journal of Nutrition. 1993; 123: 1370–1376.

- [58] Nisell M, Nomikos GG, Svensson TH. Nicotine dependence, midbrain dopamine systems and psychiatric disorders. Pharmacology & Toxicology. 1995; 76: 157–162.
- [59] Zhang M, Harrison E, Biswas L, Tran T, Liu X. Menthol facilitates dopamine-releasing effect of nicotine in rat nucleus accumbens. Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior. 2018; 175: 47–52.
- [60] Vazquez-Padron RI, Mateu D, Rodriguez-Menocal L, Wei Y, Webster KA, Pham SM. Novel role of Egr-1 in nicotine-related neointimal formation. Cardiovascular Research. 2010; 88: 296– 303.
- [61] Li J, Liu S, Cao G, Sun Y, Chen W, Dong F, *et al.* Nicotine induces endothelial dysfunction and promotes atherosclerosis via GTPCH1. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine. 2018; 22: 5406–5417.
- [62] Radcliffe PM, Sterling CR, Tank AW. Induction of tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA by nicotine in rat midbrain is inhibited by mifepristone. Journal of Neurochemistry. 2009; 109: 1272– 1284.
- [63] de Melo Pereira GV, de Carvalho Neto DP, Magalhães Júnior AI, do Prado FG, Pagnoncelli MGB, Karp SG, *et al.* Chemical composition and health properties of coffee and coffee byproducts. Advances in Food and Nutrition Research. 2020; 27: 65–96.
- [64] Karuppagounder SS, Uthaythas S, Govindarajulu M, Ramesh S, Parameshwaran K, Dhanasekaran M. Caffeine, a natural methylxanthine nutraceutical, exerts dopaminergic neuroprotection. Neurochemistry International. 2021; 148: 105066.
- [65] Kamiya T, Saitoh O, Yoshioka K, Nakata H. Oligomerization of adenosine a2a and dopamine D2 receptors in living cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2003; 306: 544–549.
- [66] McKenzie S, Marley PD. Caffeine stimulates Ca(2+) entry through store-operated channels to activate tyrosine hydroxylase in bovine chromaffin cells. European Journal of Neuroscience. 2002; 15: 1485–1492.
- [67] Ng K, Cao Z, Chen H, Zhao Z, Zhu L, Yi T. Oolong tea: a critical review of processing methods, chemical composition, health effects, and risk. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition. 2019; 58: 2957–2980.
- [68] Seidl SE, Santiago JA, Bilyk H, Potashkin JA. The emerging role of nutrition in Parkinson's disease. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience. 2014; 6: 36.
- [69] Hidese S, Ogawa S, Ota M, Ishida I, Yasukawa Z, Ozeki M, Kunugi H. Effects of L-Theanine Administration on Stress-Related Symptoms and Cognitive Functions in Healthy Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Nutrients. 2019; 11: 2362.
- [70] Zhu G, Yang S, Xie Z, Wan X. Synaptic modification by Ltheanine, a natural constituent in green tea, rescues the impairment of hippocampal long-term potentiation and memory in AD mice. Neuropharmacology. 2018; 138: 331–340.
- [71] Ma K, Ding X, Song Q, Han Z, Yao H, Ding J, *et al*. Lactate enhances Arc/arg3.1 expression through hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 1-β-arrestin2 pathway in astrocytes. Neuropharmacology. 2020; 171: 108084.
- [72] Negri S, Faris P, Berra-Romani R, Guerra G, Moccia F. Endothelial transient receptor potential channels and vascular remodeling: Extracellular Ca2 + entry for angiogenesis, arteriogenesis and vasculogenesis. Frontiers in Physiology. 2020; 10: 1618.
- [73] Adams J. Probable causes of Alzheimer's disease. Sci. 2021; 3: 16.
- [74] Adams J, Mukherjee S, Klaidman L, Morales M, Williams L, Inouye G, *et al.* Ischemic and metabolic stress induced apoptosis. In Poli G, Cadenas E, Packer L (eds.) Free radicals in brain pathophysiology (pp. 55–76). New York: Marcel Dekker. 2000.
- [75] Vila E, Solé M, Masip N, Puertas-Umbert L, Amaro S, Dantas AP, *et al.* Uric acid treatment after stroke modulates the

Krüppel-like factor 2-VEGF-a axis to protect brain endothelial cell functions: Impact of hypertension. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2019; 164: 115–128.

- [76] Lee P, Ulatowski LM. Vitamin E: Mechanism of transport and regulation in the CNS. IUBMB Life. 2019; 71: 424–429.
- [77] Parepally JMR, Mandula H, Smith QR. Brain uptake of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: ibuprofen, flurbiprofen, and indomethacin. Pharmaceutical Research. 2006; 23: 873–881.
- [78] Salmani H, Hosseini M, Baghcheghi Y, Samadi-Noshahr Z. The brain consequences of systemic inflammation were not fully alleviated by ibuprofen treatment in mice. Pharmacological Reports. 2021; 73: 130–142.
- [79] Seeger DR, Golovko SA, Grove BD, Golovko MY. Cyclooxygenase inhibition attenuates brain angiogenesis and independently decreases mouse survival under hypoxia. Journal of Neurochemistry. 2021; 158: 246–261.
- [80] Swiątkiewicz M, Zaremba M, Joniec I, Członkowski A, Kurkowska-Jastrzębska I. Potential neuroprotective effect of ibuprofen, insights from the mice model of Parkinson's disease. Pharmacological Reports. 2013; 65: 1227–1236.
- [81] Minghetti L. Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in inflammatory and degenerative brain diseases. Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology. 2004; 63: 901–910.
- [82] Martin-Bastida A, Ward RJ, Newbould R, Piccini P, Sharp D, Kabba C, *et al*. Brain iron chelation by deferiprone in a phase 2 randomised double-blinded placebo controlled clinical trial in Parkinson's disease. Scientific Reports. 2017; 7: 1398.

- [83] Hare DJ, Double KL. Iron and dopamine: a toxic couple. Brain. 2016; 139: 1026–1035.
- [84] Aaseth J, Dusek P, Roos PM. Prevention of progression in Parkinson's disease. Biometals. 2018; 31: 737–747.
- [85] Wong JC, Hazrati L. Parkinson's disease, parkinsonism, and traumatic brain injury. Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences. 2013; 50: 103–106.
- [86] Klein C, Westenberger A. Genetics of Parkinson's Disease. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine. 2012; 2: a008888.
- [87] Pitcher T, Myall D, Pearson J, Lacey C, Dalrymple-Alford J, Anderson T, MacAskill M. Parkinson's disease across ethnicities: A nationwide study in New Zealand. Movement Disorders. 2018; 33: 1440–1448.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease; Dopamine; Exercise; Lactic acid; Galactose; Lifestyle

Send correspondence to: James D. Adams, Independent Researcher, La Crescenta, CA 91214, USA, E-mail: Ji-mAdams91214@gmail.com